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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEW MEXICO

RAYMOND I. EMANUELSON,
Individually and on Behalf of
All Others Similarly Situated,

Plaintiff,
V. No.
NY PIZZA SLICE HOUSE, LLC, JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
JESSIE CARREON, and CARLOS CARREON,
COLLECTIVE ACTION
Defendants. PURSUANT TO 29 U.S.C. § 216(b)

(COUNT I ONLY)

COMPLAINT

COMES NOW the Plaintiff, Raymond I. Emanuelson (hereinafter referred to in this
document as “Plaintiff”), by and through his counsel, CARRILLO LAW FIRM, P.C. (Radl A.
Carrillo, Jr. and Steven E. Jones), and hereby submits his Complaint, on behalf of himself and all
others similarly situated, as follows:

Summary

1. This is a collective action brought by Plaintiff Raymond 1. Emanuelson, on behalf
of himself and all others similarly situated, against Defendants to recover unpaid tips and unpaid
overtime compensation under the Fair Labor Standards Act, 29 U.S.C. § 201 ef seq. (“FLSA”).

2. This is an action brought by Plaintiff, individually, under the New Mexico
Minimum Wage Act, against Defendants for unpaid wages, unpaid tips, unpaid overtime

compensation, and retaliation.
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3. This is an action brought by Plaintiff, individually, under the common law of the
State of New Mexico, against Defendants for 1‘cta1iat01’j discharge in violation of public policy.
Jurisdiction and Venue
4, This Court has original subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331
because this action involves a federal question under the Fair Labor Standards Act, 29 U.S.C. §
216(b).
5. This Court has supplemental jurisdiction over the Plaintiff’s state-law claims,

pursuant to 28 U.5.C. § 1367.

6. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants.
7. Venue is proper under 28 U.S.C. § 1391 because all defendants are residents of

the state in which this district is located; alternatively, a substantial part of the events or
omissions giving rise to the claim occurred in this district; and, alternatively, defendants are
subject to the Court’s personal jurisdiction with respect to this action.
Parties
8. Plaintiff is a resident of Las Cruces, New Mexico.
0. Plaintiff was employed by Defendant, NY Pizza Slice House, LLC, from

December 2014 to June 2016.

106. Other Defendants, Jessie Carreon and Carlos Carreon, were and are members of
NYP Slice House.
11. Plaintiff brings Count I of this action on behalf of himself and all other similarly

situated individuals (“Collective Action members™) pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b).
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12.  Plamtiff and the Collective Action members were employed by Defendants during
all or pért of the applicable étatutory period and were subject to the same illegal overtime and
tip-pooling policy or practice.

13.  Plaintiff and the Collective Action members are current and former employees of
Defendants within the meaning of the FLSA.

14.  Plaintiff and the Collective Action members were employed by Defendants within
three years of the date the Complaint was filed. See¢ 29 U.S.C. § 255.

15.  Plaintiff’s written consent is attached hereto as Exhibit A.

16,  Defendant NY Pizza Slice House, LLC is a New Mexico limited Hability
company with its principal place of business in Las Cruces, New Mexico.

17.  Upon information and belief, Defendant Jessie Carreon is a citizen and resident of
the State of New Mexico.

18.  Upon information and belief, Defendant Carlos Carreon is a citizen and resident
of the State of New Mexico.

Factual Allegations Common to All Claims

19, Defendant NY Pizza Slice House, LLC is a business primarily engaged in
restaurant operations, including table service and takeout of Italian-themed food.

20.  Defendant NY Pizza Slice House, LLC states that its pizzas are baked in ovens
imported from the State of New York.

21.  Defendant NY Pizza Slice House, LLC is an “employer” for the purposes of the
Fair Labor Standards Act and New Mexico Minimum Wage Act.

22. Defendant Jessie Carreon is a member of NY Pizza Slice House, LLC.
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23.  Defendant Jessie Carreon had the power to hire and fire employees.

24, Defendant Jessie Carreon supervised and controlled employee work schedules or

conditions of employment.

25. Defendant Jessie Carreon determined the rate and method of payment of
employees,

26. Defendant Jessie Carreon maintained employment records.

27.

Defendant Jessie Carreon is an “employer” for the purposes of the Fair Labor

Standards Act and New Mexico Minimum Wage Act.

28. Defendant Carlos Carreon is a member of NY Pizza Slice House, LLC.
29.  Defendant Carlos Carreon had the power to hire and fire employees.
30.

Defendant Carlos Carreon supervised and controlled employee work schedules or

conditions of employment.

31.  Defendant Carlos Carreon determined the rate and method of payment of
employees.

32.  Defendant Carlos Carreon maintained employment records.

33.

Defendant Carlos Carreon is an “employer” for the purposes of the Fair Labor

Standards Act and New Mexico Minimum Wage Act.

34, Plaintiff and all Collective Action members are non-exempt employees for the

purposes of the Fair Labor Standards Act and New Mexico Minimum Wage Act.

35.  Plamntiff and all Collective Action members are employees who customarily

received tips as part of their employment.



36.  Defendants withheld tips eamed by Plaintiff and Collective Action members
without distributiﬁg all of the tips to the employees, either individually or as part of & valid tip-
pooling arrangement.

37.  Defendants failed to keep a record of all tips earned by employees.

38.  Defendants failed to keep a record of all fips paid out to employees.

39. Defendants failed to notify employees, in writing, of Defendants’ tip-pooling
policy or practice.

40.  Defendants distributed some tips to staff that did not customarily receive tips, thus
depriving Plaintiff and Collective Action members of their full tip amounts.

41.  Defendants distributed some tips to themselves, despite the fact that they did not
earn these tips and were not part of a valid tip-pooling arrangement.

42.  Defendants distributed some tips to managerial staff as compensation for
managerial duties.

43.  Defendants distributed some tips to managerial staff, despite the fact that
managerial staff were ineligible to earn tips and/or received a greater share of tips than other
employees.

44.  Defendants distributed as little as 40% of tips fo employees, instead dividing the
rest among management or Defendants, who were not eligible for these tips.

45. At times, Defendants kept tips carned by employees or misplaced information

regarding tips earned by employees.
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46.  Defendants suffered or permitted non-exempt employees, including Plaintiff and
Collective Action memBers, to work overtime in excess of 40 hours per week, without pfoperiy
compensating these employees for overtime hours worked.

47.  Defendants failed to keep accurate time records, due to computer “rounding”
issues. For instance, Plaintiff’s time entries came up approximately 100 minutes short on his
paycheck due to the computer rounding down his time entries. Other, similarly situated
employees, including Collective Action members, encountered the same issues.

48.  Defendants deducted money for payroll and income taxes, but, upon information
and belief, did not apply these deductions to Plaintiff’s tax obligations. Other, similarly situated
employees, including Collective Action members, encountered the same issues.

49.  Defendants failed to keep an accurate record of tips earned and overtime hours
worked, thereby depriving employees, including Plaintiff and Collective Action members, the
opportunity to review these records as required by applicable state and federal laws.

50.  All Collective Action members, including Plaintiff, were subject to the same
illegal tip-pooling and overtime policies or practices.

Factual Allegations Specific te Plaintiff (Regarding Counts IT and III Only)

51.  Defendants failed to pay Plaintiff the legally required minimum wage for all
straight-time hours worked. For instance, Defendants failed to pay Plaintiff for time reflected in
his time records, Defendants failed to pay Plaintiff for time worked “off the clock,” and

Defendants failed to pay Plaintiff for time reflected in his pay stubs.



Case 2:16-cv-01312 Document 1 Filed 11/30/16 Page 7 of 15

52.  Plaintiff was vocal about Defendants defrauding employees, including at least two
other non-exempt exﬁployees. Plamntiff cdmplained about this situation continuously ’duri,ng the
three months preceding his termination.

53. During the three months preceding his termination, Plaintiff communicated to
other employees information regarding their rights under state and federal wage and hour laws,
including informing other employees to keep track of their time due to prior payroll
discrepancies that Plaintiff had experienced with Defendants.

4.  Plaintiff complained of safety concerns, including the employer’s policy on
washing dishes, which required floor surfaces to be covered in water, Surfaces were slippery
and unsafe. Plaintiff complained about this situation in late-August 2016.

55. Defendants created dangerous conditions involving a wooden cabinet at the.
University location that obstructed employees’ work paths. Plaintiff complained about this
situation in late-August 2016.

56.  Plaintiff noted that Defendants had not made changes required by the fire
marshal, including a heavy-duty power line running along the floor in the middle of employees’
work paths. Plaintiff complained about this situation in late-August 2016.

57. Defendants terminated Plaintiff shortly thereafter, in late-August 2016.

58, Defendants failed to keep an accurate record of straight-time hours worked, tips
earned and overtime hours worked, thereby depriving employees, including Plaintiff, the

opportunity to review these records as required by applicable state minimum wage laws.
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FLSA Coverage Allegations

59. At all relevant times, Defendants have been an employer within the meaniﬁg of
the Fair Labor Standards Act. See 29 U.S.C. § 203(d).

60. At all relevant times, Defendants have been part of an enterprise engaged in
commerce or in the production of good for commerce, or have employees handling, selling, or
otherwise working on goods or materials that have been moved in or produced for commerce by
any person.

61.  Defendant NY Pizza Slice House, LLC routinely receives deliveries of goods in
interstate commerce, including beverages, produce, and other interstate deliveries.

62. At all relevant times, Defendants have been part of an enterprise whose annual
gross volume of sales made or business done is not less than $500,000 (exclusive of excise taxes
at the retail level that are separately stated).

FLSA Collective Action Allegations

63.  Plaintiff brings this suit as an FLSA collective action pursuant to 29 U.S.C. §

216(b) on behalf of all the following:

All non-exempt current or former employees of NY Pizza Slice

House, LLC that received tips or that worked over 40 hours per

week without being fully compensated during the period of

December 1, 2013 to the present,
Specifically excluded from the collective action are FLSA-exempt employees and employees
that did not spend any of their time working in a position in which employees customarily earned
tips.

64. Plaintiff has actual knowledge, through conversations with and personal

observations of other employees, that a class of similarly situated workers exists who have been

-8
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denied rightfully earned wages for tips, have been denied overtime pay for hours worked in
excess of 40 hours per week, ‘and have been subj&ted to the same illéga] pay practices or
policies described above.

65.  The Collection Action members are similarly situated to Plaintiff in that they were
non-exempt employees who customarily received tips or worked overtime, and were subject to
Defendants’ illegal policies and practices as described above.

66.  Defendants used the same compensation structure with regard to the employees
described above.

67.  Defendants used the same compensation structure regardless of the supervisor of
a particular Collective Action member.

68. The names, addresses, and phone numbers of the Collective Action members are
available from Defendants’ records.

69. The Collective Action members should be allowed to receive notice via First
Class Mail, email and/or via a website with basic information about the lawsuit or by use of
techniques and a form of notice similar to those customarily used in Collective Actions.

Count I: Violations of the Fair Labor Standards Act
(Plaintiff Individually and on Behalf of All Others Similarly Situated)

70. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all allegations contained in the preceding
paragraphs.
71.  Defendants’ policy and/or practice of failing to pay Plaintiff and the Collective

Action members their properly earned tips violates the law. See 29 U.S.C. § 203(m).



72. Additionally, Defendants’ policy and/or practice of failing to Pay Plaintiff and the
Collective Actidn members at a rate n.ot less than one and 6ne—ha}f times the regﬁlar rate of pay
for all hours worked above 40 hours per week violates the law. See 29 U.S.C. § 207. .

73.  None of the exemptions provided by the FLSA regulating the duty of employers
to pay overtime are applicable to Plaintiff or the Collective Action members.

74. Defendants were aware (or alternatively, should have been aware) that
employees’ tips were improperly credited and that employees worked overtime without adequate
compensation.

75. Due to their violations of the FLSA, Defendants are liable to Plaintiff and the
Collective Action members for their unpaid tips, unpaid overtime, an equal amount in liquidated
damages, as well as court costs and attorney’s fees.

76.  Defendants failed to keep accurate records and to provide employees with
accurate records of tips eamed, tips paid, overtime earned, overtime paid, and other
recordkeeping requirements, thus entitling Plaintiff and Collective Action members to a
presumption of wrongdoing on the part of the employer.

77.  Defendants’ actions were willful, thus subjecting Defendants to liability for three
years” worth of back wages, pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 255,

Count 1I: Violations of the New Mexico Minimum Wage Act
(Plaintiff Raymond 1. Emanuelson Only)

78.  Plaintiff incorporates by reference all allegations contained in the preceding
paragraphs.
79. At all relevant times, Defendants have been, and continue to be, employers within

the meaning of the New Mexico Minimum Wage Act.

-10 -
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80.  The NMMWA requires that an employer pay an employee the minimum wage
rate of $7.56 per hour. See § 50~4;22(A) NMSA 1978, »

81.  The NMMWA requires payment of one and one-half times the employee’s
regular rate for each hour worked per week over 40 hours. See § 50-4-22 NMSA 1978.

82.  The NMMWA requires that all tips received by an employee shall be retained by
the employee, subject to tip-pooling arrangements. See § 50-4-22 NMSA 1978,

83.  Defendants failed to pay Plaintiff “straight time” minimum wages for all hours
worked.

84.  Defendants failed to pay Plaintiff one and one-half times the employee’s regular
rate of pay for each hour worked per week over 40 hours,

85.  Defendants failed to pay Plaintiff all of his rightfully earned tips.

86. None of the exemptions provided by the NMMWA regulating the duty of
employers to pay minimum wages or overtime are applicable to Plaintiff.

87.  Defendants were aware {or alternatively, should have been aware) that
employees’ tips were improperly credited and that employees worked overtime without adequate
compensation.

88. Due to their violations of the NMMWA, Defendants are Hable to Plaintiff for his
unpaid wages, unpaid tips, unpaid overtime, and an additional amount equal to twice the unpaid
or underpaid wages (including unpaid tips and overtime), as well as court costs and attorney’s
fees.

89.  Due to its violations of the NMMWA, Plaintiff is entitled to appropriate

injunctive relief, including requiring the employer to post in the place of business a notice

-17 -
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describing violations by the employer as found by the court or a copy of a cease and desist order
applicable to the eﬁlpioyee.

90.  The employer failed to keep accurate records and to provide employees with
accurate records of tips earned, tips paid, overtime earned, overtime paid, and other
recordkeeping requirements, thus entitling Plaintiff to a presumption of wrongdoing on the part
of the employer.

Count ITI: New Mexico Minimum Wage Act Retaliation
(Plaintiff Raymond 1. Emanuelson Only)

91.  Plaintiff incorporates by reference all allegations contained in the preceding
paragraphs.

92. The NMMWA prohibits an employer or any other person from discharging or in
any other way discriminating against a person in the terms or conditions of employment in
retaliation for the person asserting a claim or right pursuant to the Minimum Wage Act or
assisting another person to do so or for informing another person about employment rights or
other rights provided by law.

93.  Defendants discharged Plaintiff, in significant part, due to Plaintiff’s questioning
of Defendants’ pay practices.

94. Due to their violations of the NMMWA, Defendants are liable to Plaintiff for lost
wages (including front pay and back pay), incidental and consequential damages, and an
additional amount equal to twice the unpaid or underpaid wages (including unpaid tips and
overtime}), as well as court costs and attorney’s fees,

95.  Due to Defendants’ violations of the NMMWA, Plaintiff is entitled to appropriate

injunctive relief, including requiring the employer to post in the place of business a notice

-12-
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describing violations by the employer as found by the court or a copy of a cease and desist order
applicable to the employee.

Count IV: Common-Law Retaliatory Discharge
(Plaintiff Ray Emanuelson Only)

96.  Plaintiff incorporates by reference all allegations contained in the preceding
paragraphs.

97. The public policy of the State of New Mexico prohibits the discharge of an
employee because he performed an act that public policy has authorized or would encourage, or
because he refused to do something required of him by his employer that public policy would
condemn.

98.  Defendants discharged Plaintiff, in significant part, due to Plaintiff’s questioning
of Defendants’ pay practices. |

89.  Defendants discharged, Plaintiff, in significant part, due to Plaintiff’s questioning
of Defendants’ health and safety practices.

100. Defendants discharged Plaintiff, in significant part, due to Plaintiff’s informing
other employees of workers’ rights under federal and state laws.

101. A sufficient nexus exists between the public policy asserted by the employee and
the reasons for his or her discharge.

102. Due to their violations of the public policy of the State of New Mexico,
Defendants are liable to plaintiff for damages including front pay, back pay, incidental damages,

consequential damages, and other damages allowed by law.

]
[romry
s>

4
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103. Request for Punitive Damages: Defendants’ actions were willful, wanton,
recklesé, fraudulent, and in bﬁd faith, thus entitling Plaintiff to an award 'of punitive damages I‘;or
the limited purposes of punishment in order to deter others from the commission of like offenses.

Jury Demand
Plaintiff hereby requests and demands a trial by jury of 12 persons, for all claims
that may be tried before a jury.
Conclusion

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for relief against Defendants as follows:

L. For an order requiring prompt issuance of notice pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216 to
all those similarly situated apprising them of the pendency of this action, and permitting them to
assert timely FLSA claims in this action by filing individual consent forms;

2. For an order certifying this case as a collective action for the purposes of Count I;

3. For a declaratory judgment that the practices complained of herein are unlawful
under the Fair Labor Standards Act and New Mexico Minimum Wage Act;

4, For an order finding Defendants liable for willful violations of the Fair Labor
Standards Act with respect to Plaintiff and all Collective Action members;

5. For an order finding Defendants liable for willful violations of the New Mexico
Minimum Wage Act with respect to Plaintiff;

6. For an order finding Defendants liable for retaliation under the New Mexico
Minimum Wage Act with respect to Plaintiff;

7. For an order finding Defendants liable for retahatory discharge in violation of

public policy under the laws of the State of New Mexico;

-14 -
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8. For a judgment against Defendants and in favor of Plaintiff (and Collective
Action members, as apprépriaie) awarding all ﬁnpaid wages (incmdihg front pay and back pay),
hquidated damages under federal law, treble damages under state law, punitive damages, and all
other damages allowed by federal law, state law, or the common law of the State of New
Mexico;

9. For a judgment awarding Plaintiff and all Collective Action members covered by
this case their costs of suit in this action;

10.  For a judgment awarding Plaintiff and all Collective Action members covered by
this case their reasonable attorney’s fees;

11.  For pre-judgment and post-judgment interest at the maximum rates allowed by
law;

12.  For injunctive relief as determined by the Court; and

13.  For all such other relief as the Court deems just and proper.

Respectfully submitted,

%

o
&

CARRILLOAAW FIRM, R&_(/:,..a.«?

By

" Rail A. Carrillo, Jr, Xfaul@carrilioiaworg)
Steven E. Jones (sjones@carrillolaw.org)
Post Office Box 457
Las Cruces, New Mexico 88004-0457
(575) 647-3200 (office)

(575) 647-1463 (facsimile)
Attorneys in Charge for Plaintiff’

-}5-
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EXHIBIT 2

Plaintiff Ray Emanuelson’s
Consent to Join FLSA Collective Action
Wage Claim
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CONSENT TO JOIN WAGE CLAIM

Print Name: Ravmond 1. Emanuelson

1.

2.

9.

Signature/ v/ Date:

I am a current or former employee of NY Pizza Slice House, LLC.

During my employment, 1 worked in a position where employees customarily received
tips.

I was not employed solely as a janitor, dishwasher, cook, chef, or manager, although |
may {or may not) have performed such duties occasionally.

During the period of December 1, 2013 to the present {(or any portion thereof), I believe
that I participated in a tip-pooling arrangement or worked overtime in excess of 40 hours
per week without being fully compensated.

I hereby consent to participate in a collective action lawsuit against NY Pizza Slice
House. LLC, Jessie Carreon, and Carlos Carreon, to pursue my claims of unpaid
compensation for tips and overtime during the time that I worked with the company and
members of the company.

I understand that this lawsuit is brought under the Fair Labor Standards Act, and 1 fully
consent to be bound by the Court’s decision.

I designate the law firm and attorneys at CARRILLO LAW FIRM, P.C., 1001 E. Lohman
Ave,, Las Cruces, NM 88001, as my attorneys to prosecute my wage claims. This
designation includes both an investigation of the validity of claims and any resulting
litigation concerning such claims. The attorneys are authorized to file this consent on my
behalf, including the filing of complaints, amended complaints, and other pleadings, and
the settlement and collection of any and all such claims.

[ hereby request that the court assess any costs and expenses of this action and reasonable
attorney’s fees against my employer, and award said costs, expenses and fees to my
above-named counsel.

I authorize the law firm and attorneys at CARRILLO LAW FIRM, P.C. to use this
consent to file my claim in a separate lawsuit, collective action, or arbitration against the
company and members of the company.
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This complaint is part of ClassAction.org's searchable class action lawsuit database and can be found in this
post: Pizza Restaurant Slapped with FL SA Suit
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